
 
Metro Transit is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 

  
Topic: Metro Transit April 2025 Board Meeting 

Time: Apr 24, 2025, 08:30 AM Central Time (US and Canada) 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84121466253?pwd=HWBcyUdeiE9ghx4c2EmbvdRk7h5aeo.1 

  
Meeting ID: 841 2146 6253 

Passcode: 3417560 
  

--- 
  

One tap mobile 
+16694449171,,84121466253# US 

+16699006833,,84121466253# US (San Jose) 
  

  

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84121466253?pwd=HWBcyUdeiE9ghx4c2EmbvdRk7h5aeo.1


 
AGENDA 

 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA 
2222 Cuming Street 

Omaha, Nebraska, 68102 
April 24, 2025 

   8:30 a.m. 
 

Metro connects people, places, and opportunities through quality transit services.  
 

1. Call to Order: Notice of the Regular Meeting was published in the Omaha Daily Record on April 
18, 2025 

 
2. Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting: 

 
a. Regular Meeting: March 27, 2025 

  
3. General Public Comment Period 

This is an opportunity for members of the audience to be heard regarding topics related to the 
Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha, not on the agenda for a maximum of 2 
minutes. 

 
4. Administrative Report   (L. Cencic) 

 
5.   Administrative Reports: 

a. Administration/Human Resources   (D. Grant) 
b. Programs/Operation   (K. Pendland) 
c. Communications   (N. Ebat) 
 

6. Resolution 2025-12 Request Approval of Fiscal Year 2024 Audited Financials 
 (W. Clingman) 
 

7. Resolution 2025-13 Request Approval of Fuel Contracts (L. Cencic) 
 

8. Board Chair Report (C. Simon) 
 

9. Date, Time, and Place of Next Board Meeting 
Thursday, May 22, 2025, at 8:30 a.m. 

 Authority’s Administrative Building 
 
10. Adjournment 

 
Tentative Resolutions for May 
Metro Community College (MCC) Pavement Replacement Design 
Metro Electrical Switch Gear Design 
Metro Boiler Replacement Design  
 



 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA 
2222 Cuming Street 

Omaha, Nebraska, 68102 
March 27, 2025 

   8:30 a.m. 
 

MINUTES 
 

The Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha Board met on Thursday, March 27, 2025, at 
8:30 a.m., in person at the Authority’s Administration Building, 2222 Cuming Street, Omaha, Ne-
braska 68102, and virtually. Notice was published in the Omaha Daily Record on March 21, 2025, in 
advance of the meeting. For the benefit of the public in attendance, a copy of the Open Meetings Law 
is posted in the meeting room, and the Agenda is published on the display in the facility lobby. The 
following were in attendance at the meeting:  
 
Authority Board:  
Mr. Curt Simon, Board Chair 
Mr. Daniel Padilla, Vice Chair 
Mr. Josh Corrigan 
Ms. Clarice Dombeck 
Ms. Yanira Garcia 
Mr. Tim Lonergan 
Mr. Cornelius Williams 
 
Authority Staff:  
L. Cencic, CEO/Executive Director  
K. Pendland, Deputy Executive Officer  
D. Grant, Human Capital and Talent Development Director  
E. Simpson, Legal Director (Virtual)  
W. Clingman, Finance Director  
J. Willoughby, Senior Project Manager (Virtual) 
A. Johnson, Civil Rights & Inclusion Director  (Virtual) 
J. Beverage, Maintenance Director (Virtual)  
N. Ebat, Sr. Manager of Communications & Community Relations  
S. Perry, Executive Administrator & Board Secretary  
 
Others Present:  
Other Metro staff  
Members of the public  

 
 

Metro connects people, places, and opportunities through quality transit services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Agenda Item #1 Call to Order at 8:33 am.  
Notice of the Regular Meeting was published in the Omaha Daily Record on March 21, 2025.  
For the benefit of the public in attendance, a copy of the Open Meeting Law is posted in the meeting 
room, and the Agenda is published on the display located in the facility lobby and online at 
ometro.com. 
 
Agenda Item #2 Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting: 
The first order of business is the approval of the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
a. Regular Meeting: February 27, 2025 

 
Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Padilla 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 

  
Agenda Item #3 General Public Comment Period 
This is an opportunity for members of the audience to be heard regarding topics related to the 
Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha, not on the agenda for a maximum of 2 minutes. 
 
There were none 
 
Agenda Item #4 Administrative Report   (L. Cencic) 
Ms. Cencic reported upcoming services from Metro. Metro’s successful Bus to Ballot initiative will 
continue with a fare-free day for the general election on May 13, 2025. During the College World 
Series, ORBT will be available after game times.  Additionally, Metro will extend the Green Route 
service area and hours.   
 
Overall, February ridership across the system was 241,867. February experienced rough weather 
days; however, with lower ridership, it was still apparent how necessary transit is during those times.  
ORBT ridership was 39,277, and K-12 Rides Free ridership was 42,679, which pushed its ridership 
well over 1.5 million rides since its inception.  
 
Ms. Cencic further reported that she, along with the Senior Manager of Planning, presented at a 
meeting with the heads of non-profits and other organizations whose clients may benefit from the 
upcoming microtransit pilot. Via and River North Transit, the chosen contractor, also provided 
attendees with an idea of what using the service will likely look like. Directors Dombeck, Lonergan, 
and Williams were present to represent the Board.   
 
Metro recently celebrated Transit Employee Appreciation Day, and Metro was featured in a 
nationwide video as one of the transit agencies across the country. Many transit agencies and the 
American Public Transit Association shared it.  
 
Nebraska Public Transit Week will be the first full week of April. Metro will celebrate with community 
partners, riders, and honor Metro’s hardworking staff. More details later in the board report. The week 
following, Metro will hold its annual Safety Awards Banquet.   
 
Ms. Cencic will be speaking on a panel with other Board members for a documentary that will be 
featured on April 14th about how car-centric Omaha is and how to change and be more inclusive of 
other modes of travel. April 21st, Ms. Cencic will be speaking at a transportation conference hosted by 
the Refugee Task Force, focusing on bringing together transit agencies, lawmakers, and other 
decision makers to look at the solutions as it pertains to transportation for the refugee community.  
 
Ms. Cencic concluded her report and opened the floor to the Board for questions.  
 
The  Board asked what kind of patronage Metro experienced during previous Bus to Ballot days.   
Additionally, the Board asked where others could view the video that was shared nationwide for 



 
Transit Appreciation Day. Lastly, the Board asked for more details as it relates to the car-centric 
Omaha documentary, who is hosting it. 
 
Ms. Cencic responded as follows: During the Bus to Ballot initiative, there is typically a general uptick 
in ridership—not only because people are going to vote, but also due to the availability of free fares.  
 
The video shared by transit agencies is available on Facebook. 
 
Ms. Cencic also informed the Board of the details regarding the forum hosting the documentary, 
Reimagining Omaha: Car-Centric Documentary and Community Conversation. She and the Board 
members will be hosted by the Omaha Downtown Improvement District. 
 
Mr. Williams took a moment to share how informative and beneficial he found the stakeholder 
presentation on the microtransit pilot that he attended with Metro staff and fellow Board members. 
 
There were no further questions or discussion.  

 
Agenda Item #5 Administrative Reports: 
Administration/Human Resources   (D. Grant) 
Mr. Grant’s report began with the monthly recruitment update. For February, there were nine new 
hires, including one internal promotion. Of the nine hired, five were bus operators, two were 
paratransit operators, and one mechanic. The internal promotion was from a Metro bus operator to a 
field supervisor position.  
 
Metro saw nine bus operators graduate from its training program. In addition, Metro posted and filled 
the scheduling supervisor role. More details will be provided in April.  
 
Mr. Grant concluded his report and opened the floor to the Board for questions 
 
There were no further questions or discussions. 
 
Programs/Operation   (K. Pendland) 
Mr. Pendland reported that Metro’s customer service numbers remained steady in February, with 
11,743 calls answered, providing a 95% service level. The average queue remained at less than one 
minute. 
 
Fixed route revenue hours in February were 22,227, which reflects a slight decrease in service 
delivery by 677 hours compared to February 2024. This slight drop in service delivery and overall 
comparative revenue hours and passenger trips can partly be attributed to weather events and that 
2024 was a leap year. This provided Metro with an average route productivity of 10.9 passengers per 
revenue hour across all fixed routes. 
 
On-time performance in February averaged 4.5% early departure, 15% late departure, with an on-
time departure rate of 80.5%. 
 
In February, service interruptions accounted for 1.5% of our revenue hours. With most of those 
interruptions due to operator availability. Mr. Pendland mentioned in last month’s board meeting that 
February was trending towards those numbers rising; however, Metro was able to reduce service 
interruptions by .7% over January. It is important to note that these service interruption numbers do 
not include an additional 36 hours of service that was cancelled due to a published 6 am start on 



 
Wednesday, February 12th, in anticipation of inclement weather. He explained that this is considered 
a reduction of scheduled service rather than a service interruption because it was communicated in 
advance to the public. Service interruptions show an unplanned loss of service and provide us with 
useful data on where we can work to minimize unexpected delays and interruptions for the public. 
 
For paratransit operations, Metro completed a total of 7,150 trips in February, which is an increase of 
nearly 400 trips from last February. The average paratransit passengers per revenue hour in 
February was 1.7, which is slightly higher than February of 2024 but on par with the current trend. 
 
Mr. Pendland concluded his report and opened the floor to the Board for questions. 
 
The Board inquired whether customer service assistance is provided through IntelliRide and whether 
those employees work remotely. They also asked about the current on-time performance figure of 
80.5%, specifically, whether that is the target Metro is aiming to meet, and what is causing the 
increase in service interruptions due to a lack of operators. 
 
Mr. Pendland confirmed that customer service is still provided through IntelliRide, with staff working 
both remotely and in-house. He clarified that Metro’s on-time performance target is 85%. The 
shortage of operators is due to various factors, including employee illness, scheduled vacations, and 
weather-related issues. 
 
Lastly, the Board asked Mr. Pendland to explain the role of a field supervisor at Metro. 
 
Mr. Pendland explained that field supervisors provide on-the-ground support for bus operators. Their 
responsibilities include responding to accidents, addressing bus or passenger issues, monitoring road 
conditions, and checking detours, especially during inclement weather. 
 
There were no further questions or discussions. 
 
Communications   (N. Ebat) 
Ms. Ebat reported that during February, Metro had 17 articles published from six different outlets, 
local and national.  
  
Metro has provided training since the last Board meeting. A member of the communications team and 
a member of the civil rights and inclusive team presented a webinar for Nebraska’s chapter of 
the  International Association of Public Participation. It was an abridged version of Metro's 
presentation at the organization’s conference last fall. The presentation focused on how local 
governments can ensure they relate to their community. It looked at how Metro intentionally and 
successfully reorganized and refreshed the Transit Advisory Committee. 
  
Ms. Ebat further reported on additional training, fairs, and upcoming events. Metro’s Civil Rights 
Inclusion Director and Procurement Manager recently provided a training session through the Urban 
League of Nebraska, aimed at educating local businesses on how to bid on contracts with Metro. The 
training also covered Metro’s goals and processes related to Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
(DBE) participation. 
  
Staff attended the Completely Kids Resource Fair to assist mostly Spanish speakers with different 
ways they can access our services. 



 
  
Lastly, Ms. Ebat reported that during Nebraska Public Transit Week, Metro will join the Omaha Public 
Library for a joint celebration, which coincides with National Library Week. To recognize and 
celebrate how Metro connects people to opportunities, such as the many services the public library 
offers, Metro staff will participate in a reading at the Washington Branch Library on April 9 at 10:30 
a.m. and will have a bus on-site for attendees to explore. The library has also invited nearby 
preschools to visit and learn about the bus and how public transit helps keep Omaha connected. 
Metro will also be hosting two train-the-trainer events in the week of April 8th & April 11th.  
 
To close out the week, Metro will be revealing and celebrating the winning Wheel Appeal design—the 
winning student is a middle schooler from Bennington Middle School, and their design celebrates 
people’s differences. It’s an extremely colorful and vibrant design. A reveal party will be hosted at 
Metro for the students' families, where everyone will see the design for the first time. 
 
Before concluding her report, Ms. Ebat was able to provide additional Bus to Ballot information 
requested during Ms. Cencic’s report.  The last off-election-year Metro saw about a 15% increase in 
ridership. City elections tend to be less frequent than congressional elections.  
 
Ms. Ebat concluded her report and opened the floor to the Board for questions. 

 
Agenda #6 Resolution 2025-07 Request for Approval of the Amendment of Operating Policy 
26, Standards of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest  (W. Clingman) 
Staff proposed the amendment of Operating Policy 26, Standards of Conduct and Conflicts of 
Interest. This policy was last revised in January 2017. This revision provides updated language and 
additional clarification of the existing policy related to the solicitation, selection, award, and 
administration of Metro’s procurement activities. Additionally, it updates the acknowledgment 
document for this policy to be required from applicable individuals every three years instead of the 
current practice of every year. Staff reviewed this policy with the Planning & Policy Committee. 
 
The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none.  
 
There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously. 
 
Motioned by Corrigan; Seconded by Lonergan 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 
Agenda #7 Resolution 2025-08 Request Approval of the Amendment of Operating Policy 27, 
Purchasing Policy (W. Clingman) 
Staff proposed the amendment of Operating Policy 27, Purchasing. This policy was last revised in 
December 2022. This revision will update the policy with the most recent FTA guidance found in FTA 
Circular 4220.1G, which was released on January 17, 2025.  Staff reviewed this policy with the 
Planning & Policy Committee. 

The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none.  

There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously. 

Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 
 
 



 
Agenda #8 Resolution 2025-09 Request Approval of the 2026 Amended Transportation 
Improvement Program (W. Clingman) 
Staff requested approval of the amended 2026 element of the 2026-2030 Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP). This amendment is to program funds and create the 2026 Program of 
Projects (POP). 

Staff recommended programming Urbanized Area Apportionment Funds (5307) and Bus and Bus 
Facility Apportionment Funds (5339) in the FY 2026 element of the TIP.  

Additionally, staff recommended approval of the 2026 Program of Projects in the following manner: 

PROJECT 
SOURCE 
OF 
FUNDS 

AMOUNT DESCRIPTION 

    

SUPPORT 
EQUIPMENT AND 
FACILITIES 

 

5307 

Fed: $2,287,096 

Local: $571,774 

Total: 
$2,858,870 

Update BGE 
equipment, 
replace MOBY 
tablets, and 
administration 
facility upgrades 

  

TRANSIT 
ENHANCEMENTS 5307 

 

Fed: $1,192,000 

Local: $298,000 

Total: 
$1,490,000 

 

Installation of up 
to 20 bus 
shelters 

 

UNIFIED WORK 
PROGRAM 5307 

 

Fed: $920,000 

Local: $230,000 

Total: 
$1,150,000 

 

Planning 
activities for 
2026. 

 

OPERATIONS 5307 

Fed: 
$14,010,592 

Local: 
$3,502,648 

 Preventative 
Maintenance, 
partial ADA 
service, 
employee and 
staff training. 



 
Total: 
$17,513,240 

 

PROJECT 
SOURCE 
OF 
FUNDS 

AMOUNT DESCRIPTION 

ROLLING STOCK 5339 

 

Fed:  $2,034,419 
Local:  $359,015  
Total:  
$2,393,434 

 

4 Moby vans and 
2 fixed route 
buses 

OPERATIONS 

 
5339 

Fed:      $40,622 

Local:   $10,154    
Total:    $50,776 

Project 
Administration 
and training 

    

 

Board approval allows the projects to be committed for FY 2026. Projects will be submitted to the 
Metropolitan Area Planning Agency (MAPA) for consideration at the April 2025 MAPA Board Meeting. 
The total new local encumbrance of federal funds will be $20,484,729. The total new encumbrance of 
local funds will be $4,971,591. The total new encumbrance of all funds will be $25,456,320.  

Approval ensures Metro’s compliance with FTA planning requirements. 

Curt Simon, Board Chair, asked Mr. Clingman to explain what is included in the Unified Work 
Program to the Board.  

Mr. Clingman explained that it’s the agency planning activities. Short- and long-term changes, 
streetcar and how it will go into our services. Planning for audit and pension would be included as 
well.    

Ms. Cencic informed the Board for the record that part of this process is publishing this resolution in 
the Daily Record for the public to review and provide comments. Then it continues to the Metro 
Board, then to MAPA’s Board. Once fully approved, projects will take at least a year to become 
programmed. There was no formal Finance Committee meeting regarding this, but it was provided in 
the packet, and there were no questions. 

The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none.  

There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously. 

Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 



 
Agenda #9 Resolution 2025-10 Request Approval to Award Service Order to River North 
Transit for Microtransit Services (L. Cencic) 
Staff requested approval to award a service order to River North Transit, LLC, a subsidiary of Via 
Transportation, Inc., for microtransit services and to authorize the CEO/Executive Director to execute 
the same. 
 
Metro released a Request for Proposals for a Microtransit Pilot Project in September of 2024 and 
received two proposals.  The proposals were reviewed by an evaluation team, and the proposal from 
Via Transportation, Inc./River North Transit, LLC was the highest-ranked proposal in terms of the 
established criteria, which included software & data capabilities, operating plan, contractor flexibility, 
contractor experience, personnel experience, and price.   
 
In February of 2025, The Board authorized a Master Terms and Conditions Agreement with River 
North for a pilot period and approved the Title VI Equity Analysis. The Service Order outlines the 
initial zones and operating characteristics as well as establishes a maximum not to exceed price for 
the pilot period.   
 
Ms. Cencic further explained that this is overall for two years not to exceed the price of $6,926,296 
and provides options for years three through five with operational service or software only.  Entirely 
funded by philanthropic grants and will not come out of Metro’s operational budget. 
   
The Board inquired about the ability to accept cash payments for this service, particularly for 
unbanked individuals. They also asked whether Via would be purchasing vehicles following the 
approval of this resolution and sought clarification on the data-sharing provisions in the contract. 
 
Ms. Cencic explained that fare payment options are still being determined, including how fares and 
transfers will work for this service. On regular fixed routes, cash is accepted, and UMO allows cash to 
be loaded onto an account for card usage. Metro is working to integrate this system with microtransit. 
 
Regarding vehicle purchases, Metro will continue discussions with the vendor to address fare 
structures, service zones, and fleet needs.  
 
Ms. Cencic also noted that Via is open to sharing data and providing the necessary information for 
Metro to evaluate the pilot project. Metro’s planning team has reviewed the data-sharing methods that 
contractors will use, and the service zones and characteristics that were in the Title VI analysis are 
reflected in this work order. 
 
Since this is a pilot program, the contract allows for modifications through written agreements with the 
vendor as needed. 
 
The Board invited public comments on this resolution. 
 
Chris Nanke, President, Transportation Workers Union, Local 223 
Mr. Nanke wanted to reiterate the importance of having transfers. He expressed that this was never 
to be a stand-alone service but a service to bring riders to a fixed route. He stressed that transfers 
must be a priority, bringing riders to the bus.  
 
Clyde Anderson, 7020 Burt Street, Member of the Transit Advisory Committee 
Mr. Anderson expressed that he would like to see a designated location at the major transit centers 
where the microtransit vehicles will be located. He also assumes that nine months into the second 
year, this program will be evaluated but is asking that information is shared with the public as well.   
 
There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously. 
 
 



 
Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Garcia 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 
Agenda Item #10 Resolution 2025-11 Request Approval of Board Recognition of Nebraska 
Public Transit Week, April 6th-12th  (N. Ebat) 
Nebraska Public Transit Week is dedicated to raising awareness of public transit across the state. 
Public transit has served the cities of Omaha and Council Bluffs since 1867. Metro’s fixed-route 
service operated 3,843,159 miles and 278,606 hours in 2024.  Metro’s paratransit service operated 
601,292 miles and 52,273 hours connecting people, places, and opportunities.  
 
Nebraska’s Public Transit Week provides a special opportunity for people all over the state to show 
their support for services that help thousands of Nebraskans stay mobile and have active lives within 
their communities.  
 
Metro and public transit overall connect people to the parts of their communities that help people live 
an active, vibrant, interesting life. To recognize that, Metro, along with transit agencies across the 
state, is celebrating April 6th through 12th as Nebraska Public Transit Week. 
 
Metro will partner with the Omaha Public Library to read transit-themed books while also celebrating 
National Library Week, celebrating the importance art and our youth play in our community with a 
reveal of the winning design from this year’s Wheel Appeal student artist, and recognize the 
hardworking and dedicated workforce with a safety banquet to award and honor Metro employees. 
 
Board Chair Curt Simon read into the record the resolution in its entirety.  

 
RESOLUTION 2025-11 

March 27, 2025  
Omaha, Nebraska  

 
RESOLVED BY THE BOARD of DIRECTORS of the REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT 
AUTHORITY OF OMAHA:  
 
WHEREAS, public transit provides Omaha and all Nebraskans access to medical, business, 
employment, social, and supportive services and allows people to contribute to a vibrant city and 
society;  
 
WHEREAS, public transit allows individuals to remain independent, contributes to economic 
development, reduces traffic congestion, decreases carbon emissions, and improves mobility;  
 
WHEREAS, Nebraska has many public transit employees who provide service to Nebraska, more 
than 300 of whom are employed by Metro, who must maintain stringent educational requirements and 
standards, particularly bus and paratransit operators;  
 
WHEREAS, public transit professionals play an important role in so many lives;  
 
WHEREAS, Metro provides public transportation service in the Greater Omaha area;  
 
WHEREAS, More than 3.2 million rides were provided on Metro routes in 2024;  
 



 
WHEREAS, More than 82 thousand paratransit trips were provided on MOBY in 2024; 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to encourage all citizens to increase their understanding, 
awareness, and the benefits of their local transit system;  
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors and the Nebraska Association of Transportation Providers 
recognize the important role public transit professionals play and wish to acknowledge that role;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT 
AUTHORITY OF OMAHA BOARD:  
 
The Board of Directors DO HEREBY CONGRATULATE the employees of Metro and proclaim the 
week of April 6 - 12, 2025, as  
 

PUBLIC TRANSIT WEEK 
in Omaha and all of Nebraska. 

 
The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Board of the Regional Metropolitan Transit 
Authority of Omaha at a meeting held on the 27th day of March 2025, and the undersigned hereby 
certifies the adoption of this resolution.  
 
___________________________________ ___________________________________  
Curt Simon, Board Chair                                   Selina Perry, Board Secretary 
 
This was signed immediately following the board meeting.  
 
The Board invited public comments on this resolution. 
 
There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously. 
 
Motioned by Williams; Seconded by Lonergan 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 
Agenda Item #11 Board Chair Report (C. Simon) 
Board Chair Curt Simon had no updates to report for this meeting 

 
Agenda Item #12 Date, Time, and Place of Next Board Meeting 
Thursday, April 24, 2025, at 8:30 a.m. 
Authority’s Administrative Building 
 
Agenda Item #13 Adjournment at 9:13 am. 
 
Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck 
ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES 
 



RESOLUTION:  2025-12 Request Approval of Fiscal Year 2024 Audited Financials 

 

EXPLANATION: Staff is seeking approval of the 2024 audited financial statements. Eide 
Baily audited Metro's financial statements as of and for the year ended  
December 31, 2024, and produced the audit report. The 2024 audit 
report was reviewed with Metro's Finance/Procurement Committee for 
their review prior to the Board meeting. 
 
The full audit report will be sent under separate cover.  
 

Recommend approval. 

 

The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Board of the Regional Metropolitan Transit 
Authority of Omaha at a meeting held on the 24th day of April 2025, and the undersigned 
hereby certifies the adoption of this resolution. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Curt Simon, Board Chair 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Selina Perry, Board Secretary 

 



RESOLUTION: 2025-13 Request Approval of Fuel Contracts 
 

EXPLANATION: On April 10, 2025, Metro determined that it was prudent to obtain 
bids for both diesel and gasoline fuel due to a decrease in fuel 
market prices.  Metro’s current contract with Agriland will end in 
August 2025. 

 
 Metro requested bids for both diesel and gasoline for a six (6) month 

period beginning on September 1, 2025. Metro received five (5) 
bids for these contracts.  The low, responsive, compliant bid for 
ultra-low sulfur diesel was from Petroleum Traders at $2.0409 per 
gallon for 195,000 gallons.  The low, responsive, compliant bid for 
gasoline was also from Petroleum Traders at $1.6995 per gallon for 
72,000 gallons. 

 
 The CEO/Executive Director advised the Board Chair, Mr. Simon, 

who agreed to award these contracts.  Both proposed contracts are 
below the amount budgeted for fuel for 2025. Metro’s current diesel 
contract which will expire in August 2025 is $2.298/gallon. Metro’s 
current contract for gasoline that expires in August is $2.0225 per 
gallon. 

 
 We are requesting full Board concurrence for two contract awards 

to Petroleum Traders in accordance with Metro’s Procurement 
Policy.  The contracts with Petroleum Traders will be in the amount 
of $397,975.50 for the ultra-low sulfur diesel purchase and 
$122,364 for the gasoline contract. 

 
 Petroleum Traders is paid upon invoicing after delivery, which is 

spread out incrementally throughout the contract period. 
 
 Recommend Full Board Approval 
 
 

 



PURPOSE

MISSION

VISION

The Omaha metro area needs reliable, quality public 
transportation to grow sustainably and serve the diverse needs 
of our residents.

Metro connects people, places, and opportunities through 
quality transit services. 

Metro strives to be a valued transportation choice for all members 
of our community and a vital partner for Omaha’s future.

Metro aims to realize this vision by cultivating and investing in:
Collaborative 
communication

Employee 
empowerment

Culture of respect & 
appreciation

Well-maintained 
equipment & facilities

Up-to-date technology 
& processes

Ongoing training & 
safety efforts

Collaborative partnerships 
to improve our service

Outstanding rider 
communication & experience

Recognition of Metro’s 
value to the community

VALUES
Unity: We are a team with a common purpose.
Responsibility: We take pride in our work and are committed to going above and 
beyond.
Care: We care about our customers and each other.
Resourcefulness: We are adaptable and driven to overcome challenges.
Learning: We are always training for tomorrow.
Appreciation: We are motivated to provide a quality of life for those we love 
through competitive wages and compensation.



RMTA District Boundaries

District Representative
District 1 (Two-year term): Cornelius Williams
District 2 (Four-year term): Clarice Dombeck
District 3 (Two-year term): Yanira Garcia
District 4 (Four-year term): Daniel Padilla
District 5 (Two-year term): Josh Corrigan
District 6 (Four-year term): Curt Simon
District 7 (Two-year term): Tim Lonergan

1

2

34

5

6

7 14

26

55

3

8

5

Y

B

4

30

18

35

36

13

11

15

95

97

94

93

24

92

January 2025



Definition Key: # of Employees: Total number of employees in stated or similar roles.

Mthly Hires: The number of new employees, promotions, or transfers in the given month. 

Mthly Turnover: The number of employees who retire, quit, terminate, promote, or transfer in given month.

Current Need: # of stated or similar positions vacant.

Trained: Operators who've completed 6-8 week new hire training period and are operational.

# of 
Employees

Mthly    
Turnover Recruiting Activity Notes

342 5 Metro welcomed 6 new hires in March and identified 7 
additional candidates for April start dates.

Operations 206
Trained Bus 
Operators 169 4
Bus Operators in 
Training 3 5 additional trainees were identified for a April start date.  

Paratransit 
Operators 34 1 Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 

Maintenance 29
Bus Mechanic 17 Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 
Parts 2
Vehicle Mechanic 2
Utility 7
Body Shop 
Mechanic 1

Building 17
BG&E - Field 4
Custodial 13

All Roles
6

6

9

                                     Monthly Recruiting ReportMarch

26

4

1

 4 (trained)

1

Mthly 
Hires Current Need



Role Mthly    
Turnover

Admin Staff
Mechanic 
Supervisor Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 

Accountant & Grant 
Administrator Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 

Field Supervisor Jacob Palen was promoted to Field Supervisor

Scheduling 
Supervisor New hire anticipated to start in Apri 7th

Communication 
Specialist Finalizing job descriptions and posting date

P/T Communication 
Specialist Finalizing job, structure, description, and posting date

Mobility Specialist Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 

Sr. Mobility Manager Currently reviewing and interviewing candidates. 

Operations Director Finalizing job, structure, description, and posting date

Attorney Finalizing job, structure, description, and posting date

Receptionist Finalizing job, structure, description, and posting date

1

1 0

1

1

1

2

Current Need
Recruiting Activity Notes

Mthly Hires

1

1

1

1

1

March

0

10



COMMUNICATIONS

SOCIAL MEDIA SUMMARY
3.1.25 - 3.31.25

1

Facebook: Metro Transit Omaha

Twitter: @rideORBT

Instagram: @metrotransitoma

Posts: 14 
Reach: 114,743
Reactions: 188
Comments: 36
Shares: 106
1 new follower | 0.03% increase

Posts: 10
Likes: 170
Avg. 20.8 likes/post for the year
Comments: 3
13 new followers | 0.79% increase

Tweets: 16
Impressions: 12,307
Avg. 537.6 impressions/post for the year
Likes: 36
Retweets: 16
Replies: 0
-9 followers | 0.78% decrease



2

EARNED MEDIA SUMMARY
3.1.25 - 3.31.2523 stories   8 outlets

Winter weather - KETV Service Interruptions - OWH Microtransit - OWH

Metro’s Procurement Manager and Director of Civil 
Rights and Inclusion discussed procurement and 
DBE processes at Metro to help educate business 
owners on securing contracts. 

3.1.25 - 3.31.25
OUTREACH

Train the Trainer program launch

Two members of staff presented on how Metro 
refreshed the Transit Advisory Committee, providing 
advice to those looking at reinvigorating their own 
organizational committees. This is the second 
time this presentation has been presented for the 
International Association for Public Participation. The 
webinar will be posted by IAP2 in the future.

MARCH 11

Unlock Contract Opportunities
MARCH 13 

Staff answered questions around the upcoming pilot 
microtransit service in the Omaha area. The focus 
of this event was to connect with community leaders 
and organizers hoping to learn more about how this 
service will serve the community.

Microtransit Q&A Session
MARCH 7



ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ACTUAL MTD REVENUE REVISED ESTIM REV ACTUAL YTD REVENUE REMAINING REVENUE % YTD COLL
4140 Advertising (11,238)$                             (260,000)$                       (52,553)$                       (207,447)$                      20%
5339 BFac Cap -$                                     (14,800,000)$                  -$                              (14,800,000)$                0%
4112 Contract Serv (147,201)$                           (1,786,000)$                    (589,735)$                    (1,196,265)$                   33%
5303 Metro Planning (10,900)$                             (137,000)$                       (10,912)$                       (126,088)$                      8%
Other FTA (2,000)$                            -$                              (2,000)$                          0%
4150 Other Revenues (119,737)$                           (5,273,200)$                    (364,325)$                    (4,908,875)$                   7%
4111 Passenger Fares (168,888)$                           (2,224,000)$                    (459,811)$                    (1,764,189)$                   21%
4230 Property Tax 17,740$                              (54,609,558)$                  13,648$                        (54,623,206)$                0%
4410 State -$                                     (200,000)$                       (94,840)$                       (105,161)$                      47%
5307 Urbanized Cap -$                                     (12,500,000)$                  -$                              (12,500,000)$                0%
5307 Urbanized Oper -$                                     (7,000,000)$                    -$                              (7,000,000)$                   N/A
Revenue Total (440,225)$                           (98,791,758)$                  (1,558,528)$                 (97,233,230)$                1.58%

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ACTUAL MTD EXPENSE REVISED BUDGET YTD EXPENDED AVAILABLE BUDGET % YTD USED
5031 Fuel/Lubricants 180,888$                            4,851,194 547,126$                      4,304,068$                    11%
5015 Fringe Benefits 629,482$                            9,104,124 1,855,581$                  7,248,543$                    20%
MI 5090 Misc Expenses -$                                     0 -$                              -$                                N/A
5039 Oth Mat & Supp 213,538$                            2,190,000 567,314$                      1,622,686$                    26%
OA 5014 Other Pd Absen 25,872$                              0 83,887$                        (83,887)$                        N/A
5200 Other Op Exp 1,087$                                 13,200 3,261$                          9,939$                            25%
OP 5012 Op Paid Absen 62,281$                              0 200,915$                      (200,915)$                      N/A
5011 Oper Sal/Wages 836,288$                            13,429,337 2,477,149$                  10,952,188$                  18%
5013 Other Sal/Wag 344,463$                            5,256,676 996,365$                      4,260,311$                    19%
5020 Services 170,209$                            2,184,845 628,570$                      1,556,275$                    29%
5032 Tires & Tubes 43,392$                              228,000 60,306$                        167,694$                       26%
UT 5040 Utilities 13,870$                              92,244 36,776$                        55,468$                         40%
Fixed (MBDO) 2,521,369$                         37,349,619$                   7,457,251$                  29,892,368$                  20%

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ACTUAL MTD EXPENSE REVISED BUDGET YTD EXPENDED AVAILABLE BUDGET % YTD USED
FL 5031 Fuel/Lubricants 20,593$                              303,880$                         55,351$                        248,529$                       18%
FR 5015 Fringe Benefits 93,130$                              1,237,499$                     274,344$                      963,155$                       22%
MS 5039 Oth Mat & Supp 13,759$                              310,000$                         20,195$                        289,805$                       7%
OA 5014 Other Pd Absen 3,437$                                 -$                                 7,994$                          (7,994)$                          N/A
OP 5012 Op Paid Absen 11,469$                              -$                                 32,242$                        (32,242)$                        N/A
OS 5011 Oper Sal/Wages 130,022$                            1,901,729$                     383,916$                      1,517,813$                    20%
OW 5013 Other Sal/Wag 41,592$                              573,268$                         129,675$                      443,593$                       23%
SR 5020 Services 34,166$                              35,000$                           37,434$                        (2,434)$                          N/A
TT 5032 Tires & Tubes 1,035$                                 20,000$                           3,714$                          16,286$                         19%
UT 5040 Utilities -$                                     16,200$                           -$                              16,200$                         0%
Paratransit/Moby (DRDO) 349,203$                            4,397,576$                     944,866$                      3,452,710$                    21%

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ACTUAL MTD EXPENSE REVISED BUDGET YTD EXPENDED AVAILABLE BUDGET % YTD USED
CL 5050 Cslty/Liab Cost 66,109$                              948,763 184,919$                      763,844$                       19%
FR 5015 Fringe Benefits 157,238$                            2,063,373 457,775$                      1,605,598$                    22%
MI 5090 Misc Expenses 13,008$                              811,356 60,263$                        751,093$                       7%
MS 5039 Oth Mat & Supp 8,289$                                 1,010,310 47,007$                        963,303$                       5%
OA 5014 Other Pd Absen 24,672$                              0 75,251$                        (75,251)$                        N/A
OE 5200 Other Op Exp 0 -$                                N/A
OS 5011 Oper Sal/Wages 4,107$                                 40,000 13,116$                        26,884$                         N/A
OW 5013 Other Sal/Wag 291,781$                            4,524,239 847,918$                      3,676,321$                    19%
SR 5020 Services 113,425$                            6,497,538 314,783$                      6,182,756$                    5%
TX 5060 Taxes -$                                     1,000 -$                              1,000$                            0%
UT 5040 Utilities 33,387$                              450,000 49,375$                        400,625$                       11%
Administrative 712,017$                            16,346,579$                   2,050,406$                  14,296,173$                  13%

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION ACTUAL MTD EXPENSE REVISED BUDGET YTD EXPENDED AVAILABLE BUDGET % YTD USED
Fringe Costs 1,786$                                 -$                                 1,786$                          (1,786)$                          N/A
Shared Expense 1,786$                                 -$                                 1,786$                          (1,786)$                          N/A

Operating Expense Total 3,584,375$                         58,093,774$                   10,452,523$                47,641,251$                  18%

Metro - Income Statement Report
For the Period Ending 03-31-2025

Unaudited Preliminary Report

Revenue

Expense



Expense Total 3,584,375$                         58,093,774$                   10,454,309$                47,639,465$                  18%
Revenue Total (440,225)$                           (98,791,758)$                  (1,558,528)$                 (97,233,230)$                2%
(Gain)/Loss 3,144,149.74$                   8,895,780.96$             (49,593,765.17)$           16.42%

Depreciation Exp 758,563 10,252,000 2,360,805 10,252,000.00
Capital Exp 554,731 37,089,985 786,102 36,303,883
Property Tax Timing

MTD Total REVISED BUDGET YTD Total
Revised Exp 4,897,669 105,435,759 13,601,216
Revised Rev (440,225)                             (98,791,758)                    (1,558,528)                   
Revised Net Loss/(Gain) 4,457,444.23                     6,644,000.72                  12,042,687.96             

Totals



March 2025 Customer Service Report 
Call Center Service Level 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the percent service level by queue – combined, 

bus (fixed route) only, and MOBY only – during the month of March 2025. The combined service level 

was 85%, the bus-only queue was 89%, and the MOBY-only queue was 83%. 

Incoming Calls 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the number of incoming calls that were offered, 

answered, and abandoned by queue – combined, bus (fixed route) only, and MOBY only – during the 

month of March 2025. Combined, there were 12,773 calls offered, 10,719 calls answered, and 2,054 

calls abandoned. For the bus-only queue, there were 5,442 calls offered, 4,435 calls answered, and 

1,007 calls abandoned. For the MOBY-only queue, there were 7,249 calls offered, 6,246 calls 

answered, and 1,003 calls abandoned.  

85

89

83

80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90

Service Level (Percent)

Combined Bus (Fixed Route) Only MOBY Only

12,773

10,719

2,054

5,442
4,435

1,007

7,249
6,246

1,003

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Offered Answered Abandoned

Combined Bus (Fixed Route) Only MOBY Only



Call Times 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the call times broken down by the average wait, 

average handle, and average hold times and by queue – combined, bus (fixed route) only, and MOBY 

only – during the month of March. For the combined queue, the average wait time was two minutes, 

six seconds, the average handle time was two minutes, 40 seconds, and the average hold time was 

three minutes, 22 seconds. For the bus-only queue, the average wait time was one minute, 29 

seconds, the average handle time was one minute, 59 seconds, and the average hold time was two 

minutes, 19 seconds. For the MOBY-only queue, the average wait time was one minute, 57 seconds, 

the average handle time was three minutes, 9 seconds, and the average hold time was four minutes, 

15 seconds.  

Logged Feedback and Inquiry Categories 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the logged feedback and inquiries broken by 

different categories, as follows: general – 5.4%, driver – 42.7%, on-time performance – 7.0%, 

vehicles – 0%, ticket – 6.5%, routing – 3.8%, office staff – 3.4%, lost and found – 24.9%, and other – 

8.1%. The total number of logged inquiries was 185. 

2:06

2:40

3:22

1:29

1:59
2:19

1:57

3:09

4:15

0:00

0:28

0:57

1:26

1:55

2:24

2:52

3:21

3:50

4:19

4:48

Average Wait Average Handle Average Hold

Combined Bus (Fixed Route) Only MOBY Only

General, 5.4%

Driver, 42.7%

OTP, 7.0%Vehicle, 0.0%
Ticket, 6.5%

Routing, 3.8%

Office Staff, 
3.4%

Lost & Found, 
24.9%

Other, 8.1%



 



 



 



 



 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

OTP by Month System Wide

% Early Departure % On Time Departure % Late Departure

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

11 13 14 15 18 24 26 3 30 35 36 4 5 55 8

OTP by Route for March 2025

% Early Departure % On Time Departure % Late Departure



 



March 2025 MOBY Eligibility + Operations Report 
MOBY Eligibility 

Number of MOBY Applications Processed in March 

 
Text summary of the chart: The chart displays the number of MOBY applications processed in March for the 

last two years. In March 2024, 59 applications were processed. In March 2025, 50 applications were 

processed. 

Number of MOBY Applications Year-to-Date (January – March) 

 
Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the number of MOBY applications processed year-to-date 

(January through March) for the last two years. Through March 31, 2024, 163 applications were processed. 

Through March 31, 2025, 155 applications have been processed. 

 

59

50

44

46

48

50

52

54

56

58

60

2024 2025

163

155

150

152

154

156

158

160

162

164

2024 2025



Total Number of Eligible MOBY Riders as of March 31 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the total number of eligible MOBY riders as of March 31 

for the last two years. As of March 31, 2024, there were 1,926 eligible MOBY riders. As of March 31, 2025, 

there were 1,951 eligible MOBY riders. 

 

MOBY Operations 
Number of MOBY Passengers in March 
Includes clients, companions, PCAs, and other passengers 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the number of MOBY passengers in March for the last 

five years. In March 2021, 5,741 passengers rode MOBY, including clients, companions, PCAs, and other 

passengers. There were 6,964 passengers in March 2022, 7,532 passengers in March 2023, 7,448 

passengers in March 2024, and 7,695 passengers in March 2025.  

 

 

1,926

1,951

1,915

1,920

1,925

1,930

1,935

1,940

1,945

1,950

1,955

2024 2025

5,741

6,964
7,532 7,448 7,695

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025



Number of MOBY Trips in March 

 

Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the number of scheduled and completed MOBY trips in 

March for the last five years. In March 2021, 5,379 trips were scheduled, and 5,179 trips were completed. In 

March 2022, 6,552 trips were scheduled, and 6,253 trips were completed. In March 2023, 7,124 trips were 

scheduled, and 6,881 trips were completed. In March 2024, 7,025 trips were scheduled, and 6,738 trips were 

completed. In March 2025, 7,202 trips were scheduled, and 6,882 trips were completed.  

Please note: Operators are staffed according to scheduled trips. All MOBY trips must be scheduled no later 

than 4:30 p.m. prior to the day of travel. 

Average Passenger per Revenue Hour in March 

 
Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the average number of passengers per revenue hour for 

the month of March over the last five years. The average number of passengers per hour was 1.8 in 2021, 1.8 

in 2022, 1.8 in 2023, 1.6 in 2024, and 1.9 in 2025. 

5,379 5,179

6,552
6,253

7,124 6,8817,025
6,738

7,202
6,882

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

Scheduled Trips Completed Trips

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

1.8 1.8 1.8

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

2.0

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025



Number of MOBY Passengers Year-to-Date (YTD) 
Includes clients, companions, PCAs, and other passengers 

 
Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the year-to-date number of MOBY passengers over the 

last five years. From January 1 to March 31, 2021, 14,745 passengers rode MOBY, including clients, 

companions, PCAs, and other passengers. There were 19,256 passengers in 2022, 21,214 passengers in 

2023, 21,168 passengers in 2024, and 22,761 passengers in 2025. 

Number of MOBY Trips Year-to-Date (YTD) 

 
Text summary of the above chart: The chart displays the year-to-date number of scheduled and completed 

MOBY trips over the last five years. From January 1 to March 31, 2021, 13,773 trips were scheduled, and 

13,227 trips were completed. In 2022, 17,809 trips were scheduled, and 16,967 trips were completed. In 2023, 

20,054 trips were scheduled, and 19,333 trips were completed. In 2024, 20,051 trips were scheduled, and 

19,172 trips were completed. In 2025, 21,388 trips have been scheduled, and 20,407 trips have been 

completed. 

14,745

19,256
21,214 21,168

22,761

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

13,773 13,227

17,809
16,967

20,054 19,33320,051
19,172

21,388
20,407

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

Scheduled Trips Completed Trips

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025


	#1 April 2025 Regular Board Agenda
	Omaha, Nebraska, 68102

	#2 March 2025 Regular Board Minutes - Final
	Omaha, Nebraska, 68102

	#3a #2025-12 FY 2024 Audited Stmt Resolution Summary
	#3b #2025-13 Fuel Contracts April 2025 lc
	#4 Metro-MVP_2409
	#4a BoardRepMap_022025_V2-update
	#5a End of Mar 2025 Recruiting Report
	#5c Communications-Board_Apr25
	#6 03-2025 Financials
	#7 April 2025 Customer Service Board Report (March 2025 Data)
	#9 FixedRtRevenueHrs_Mar2025
	#10 ProductivityChart_Mar2025
	#11 FixedRtPassengerTrips_Mar2025
	#12 K12_Monthly_Mar2025
	#13 April BOD Meeting OTP Reports
	#14 ServiceInterruptionReport_Mar2025
	#16 Moby Eligibility & Operations 4.2025


RESOLUTION: 	2025-12 Request Approval of Fiscal Year 2024 Audited Financials



EXPLANATION:	Staff is seeking approval of the 2024 audited financial statements. Eide

Baily audited Metro's financial statements as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2024, and produced the audit report. The 2024 audit report was reviewed with Metro's Finance/Procurement Committee for their review prior to the Board meeting.



The full audit report will be sent under separate cover. 



Recommend approval.



The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Board of the Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha at a meeting held on the 24th day of April 2025, and the undersigned hereby certifies the adoption of this resolution.





____________________________________

Curt Simon, Board Chair





____________________________________

Selina Perry, Board Secretary




RESOLUTION:	2025-13 Request Approval of Fuel Contracts



EXPLANATION:	On April 10, 2025, Metro determined that it was prudent to obtain bids for both diesel and gasoline fuel due to a decrease in fuel market prices.  Metro’s current contract with Agriland will end in August 2025.



	Metro requested bids for both diesel and gasoline for a six (6) month period beginning on September 1, 2025. Metro received five (5) bids for these contracts.  The low, responsive, compliant bid for ultra-low sulfur diesel was from Petroleum Traders at $2.0409 per gallon for 195,000 gallons.  The low, responsive, compliant bid for gasoline was also from Petroleum Traders at $1.6995 per gallon for 72,000 gallons.



	The CEO/Executive Director advised the Board Chair, Mr. Simon, who agreed to award these contracts.  Both proposed contracts are below the amount budgeted for fuel for 2025. Metro’s current diesel contract which will expire in August 2025 is $2.298/gallon. Metro’s current contract for gasoline that expires in August is $2.0225 per gallon.



	We are requesting full Board concurrence for two contract awards to Petroleum Traders in accordance with Metro’s Procurement Policy.  The contracts with Petroleum Traders will be in the amount of $397,975.50 for the ultra-low sulfur diesel purchase and $122,364 for the gasoline contract.



	Petroleum Traders is paid upon invoicing after delivery, which is spread out incrementally throughout the contract period.



	Recommend Full Board Approval










[bookmark: _Hlk127342259]Metro Transit is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting.

 

Topic: Metro Transit April 2025 Board Meeting
Time: Apr 24, 2025, 08:30 AM Central Time (US and Canada)

[bookmark: _Hlk195683347]
Join Zoom Meeting
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84121466253?pwd=HWBcyUdeiE9ghx4c2EmbvdRk7h5aeo.1

 

Meeting ID: 841 2146 6253
Passcode: 3417560

 

---

 

One tap mobile
+16694449171,,84121466253# US
+16699006833,,84121466253# US (San Jose)

 




AGENDA



REGULAR BOARD MEETING

REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA

2222 Cuming Street

Omaha, Nebraska, 68102

April 24, 2025

   8:30 a.m.



Metro connects people, places, and opportunities through quality transit services. 



1. Call to Order: Notice of the Regular Meeting was published in the Omaha Daily Record on April 18, 2025



2. Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting:



a. Regular Meeting: March 27, 2025

	

3. General Public Comment Period

This is an opportunity for members of the audience to be heard regarding topics related to the Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha, not on the agenda for a maximum of 2 minutes.



4. Administrative Report	  (L. Cencic)



5.   Administrative Reports:

a. Administration/Human Resources 	 (D. Grant)

b. Programs/Operation 	 (K. Pendland)

c. Communications 	 (N. Ebat)



6. Resolution 2025-12 Request Approval of Fiscal Year 2024 Audited Financials

	(W. Clingman)



7. Resolution 2025-13 Request Approval of Fuel Contracts	(L. Cencic)



8. Board Chair Report	(C. Simon)



9. [bookmark: _Int_Yae1Df5q]Date, Time, and Place of Next Board Meeting

Thursday, May 22, 2025, at 8:30 a.m.

	Authority’s Administrative Building



10. Adjournment



Tentative Resolutions for May

Metro Community College (MCC) Pavement Replacement Design

Metro Electrical Switch Gear Design

Metro Boiler Replacement Design 






[bookmark: _Hlk127342259]REGULAR BOARD MEETING

REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA

2222 Cuming Street

Omaha, Nebraska, 68102

March 27, 2025

   8:30 a.m.



MINUTES



The Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha Board met on Thursday, March 27, 2025, at 8:30 a.m., in person at the Authority’s Administration Building, 2222 Cuming Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68102, and virtually. Notice was published in the Omaha Daily Record on March 21, 2025, in advance of the meeting. For the benefit of the public in attendance, a copy of the Open Meetings Law is posted in the meeting room, and the Agenda is published on the display in the facility lobby. The following were in attendance at the meeting: 



Authority Board: 

Mr. Curt Simon, Board Chair

Mr. Daniel Padilla, Vice Chair

Mr. Josh Corrigan

Ms. Clarice Dombeck

Ms. Yanira Garcia

Mr. Tim Lonergan

Mr. Cornelius Williams



Authority Staff: 

L. Cencic, CEO/Executive Director 

K. Pendland, Deputy Executive Officer 

D. Grant, Human Capital and Talent Development Director 

E. Simpson, Legal Director (Virtual) 

W. Clingman, Finance Director 

J. Willoughby, Senior Project Manager (Virtual)

A. Johnson, Civil Rights & Inclusion Director  (Virtual)

J. Beverage, Maintenance Director (Virtual) 

N. Ebat, Sr. Manager of Communications & Community Relations 

S. Perry, Executive Administrator & Board Secretary 



Others Present: 

Other Metro staff 

Members of the public 





Metro connects people, places, and opportunities through quality transit services. 

























Agenda Item #1 Call to Order at 8:33 am. 

Notice of the Regular Meeting was published in the Omaha Daily Record on March 21, 2025. 

For the benefit of the public in attendance, a copy of the Open Meeting Law is posted in the meeting room, and the Agenda is published on the display located in the facility lobby and online at ometro.com.



Agenda Item #2 Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting:

The first order of business is the approval of the minutes of the previous meeting.



a. Regular Meeting: February 27, 2025

[bookmark: _Hlk188527972]

Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Padilla

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES

	

Agenda Item #3 General Public Comment Period

This is an opportunity for members of the audience to be heard regarding topics related to the Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha, not on the agenda for a maximum of 2 minutes.



There were none



Agenda Item #4 Administrative Report	  (L. Cencic)

Ms. Cencic reported upcoming services from Metro. Metro’s successful Bus to Ballot initiative will continue with a fare-free day for the general election on May 13, 2025. During the College World Series, ORBT will be available after game times.  Additionally, Metro will extend the Green Route service area and hours.  



Overall, February ridership across the system was 241,867. February experienced rough weather days; however, with lower ridership, it was still apparent how necessary transit is during those times.  ORBT ridership was 39,277, and K-12 Rides Free ridership was 42,679, which pushed its ridership well over 1.5 million rides since its inception. 



Ms. Cencic further reported that she, along with the Senior Manager of Planning, presented at a meeting with the heads of non-profits and other organizations whose clients may benefit from the upcoming microtransit pilot. Via and River North Transit, the chosen contractor, also provided attendees with an idea of what using the service will likely look like. Directors Dombeck, Lonergan, and Williams were present to represent the Board.  



Metro recently celebrated Transit Employee Appreciation Day, and Metro was featured in a nationwide video as one of the transit agencies across the country. Many transit agencies and the American Public Transit Association shared it. 



Nebraska Public Transit Week will be the first full week of April. Metro will celebrate with community partners, riders, and honor Metro’s hardworking staff. More details later in the board report. The week following, Metro will hold its annual Safety Awards Banquet.  



Ms. Cencic will be speaking on a panel with other Board members for a documentary that will be featured on April 14th about how car-centric Omaha is and how to change and be more inclusive of other modes of travel. April 21st, Ms. Cencic will be speaking at a transportation conference hosted by the Refugee Task Force, focusing on bringing together transit agencies, lawmakers, and other decision makers to look at the solutions as it pertains to transportation for the refugee community. 



Ms. Cencic concluded her report and opened the floor to the Board for questions. 



The  Board asked what kind of patronage Metro experienced during previous Bus to Ballot days.   Additionally, the Board asked where others could view the video that was shared nationwide for Transit Appreciation Day. Lastly, the Board asked for more details as it relates to the car-centric Omaha documentary, who is hosting it.



Ms. Cencic responded as follows: During the Bus to Ballot initiative, there is typically a general uptick in ridership—not only because people are going to vote, but also due to the availability of free fares. 



The video shared by transit agencies is available on Facebook.



Ms. Cencic also informed the Board of the details regarding the forum hosting the documentary, Reimagining Omaha: Car-Centric Documentary and Community Conversation. She and the Board members will be hosted by the Omaha Downtown Improvement District.



Mr. Williams took a moment to share how informative and beneficial he found the stakeholder presentation on the microtransit pilot that he attended with Metro staff and fellow Board members.



There were no further questions or discussion. 



Agenda Item #5 Administrative Reports:

Administration/Human Resources 	 (D. Grant)

Mr. Grant’s report began with the monthly recruitment update. For February, there were nine new hires, including one internal promotion. Of the nine hired, five were bus operators, two were paratransit operators, and one mechanic. The internal promotion was from a Metro bus operator to a field supervisor position. 



Metro saw nine bus operators graduate from its training program. In addition, Metro posted and filled the scheduling supervisor role. More details will be provided in April. 



Mr. Grant concluded his report and opened the floor to the Board for questions



There were no further questions or discussions.



Programs/Operation 	 (K. Pendland)

Mr. Pendland reported that Metro’s customer service numbers remained steady in February, with 11,743 calls answered, providing a 95% service level. The average queue remained at less than one minute.



Fixed route revenue hours in February were 22,227, which reflects a slight decrease in service delivery by 677 hours compared to February 2024. This slight drop in service delivery and overall comparative revenue hours and passenger trips can partly be attributed to weather events and that 2024 was a leap year. This provided Metro with an average route productivity of 10.9 passengers per revenue hour across all fixed routes.



On-time performance in February averaged 4.5% early departure, 15% late departure, with an on-time departure rate of 80.5%.



In February, service interruptions accounted for 1.5% of our revenue hours. With most of those interruptions due to operator availability. Mr. Pendland mentioned in last month’s board meeting that February was trending towards those numbers rising; however, Metro was able to reduce service interruptions by .7% over January. It is important to note that these service interruption numbers do not include an additional 36 hours of service that was cancelled due to a published 6 am start on Wednesday, February 12th, in anticipation of inclement weather. He explained that this is considered a reduction of scheduled service rather than a service interruption because it was communicated in advance to the public. Service interruptions show an unplanned loss of service and provide us with useful data on where we can work to minimize unexpected delays and interruptions for the public.



For paratransit operations, Metro completed a total of 7,150 trips in February, which is an increase of nearly 400 trips from last February. The average paratransit passengers per revenue hour in February was 1.7, which is slightly higher than February of 2024 but on par with the current trend.



Mr. Pendland concluded his report and opened the floor to the Board for questions.



The Board inquired whether customer service assistance is provided through IntelliRide and whether those employees work remotely. They also asked about the current on-time performance figure of 80.5%, specifically, whether that is the target Metro is aiming to meet, and what is causing the increase in service interruptions due to a lack of operators.



Mr. Pendland confirmed that customer service is still provided through IntelliRide, with staff working both remotely and in-house. He clarified that Metro’s on-time performance target is 85%. The shortage of operators is due to various factors, including employee illness, scheduled vacations, and weather-related issues.



Lastly, the Board asked Mr. Pendland to explain the role of a field supervisor at Metro.



Mr. Pendland explained that field supervisors provide on-the-ground support for bus operators. Their responsibilities include responding to accidents, addressing bus or passenger issues, monitoring road conditions, and checking detours, especially during inclement weather.



There were no further questions or discussions.



Communications 	 (N. Ebat)

Ms. Ebat reported that during February, Metro had 17 articles published from six different outlets, local and national. 

 

Metro has provided training since the last Board meeting. A member of the communications team and a member of the civil rights and inclusive team presented a webinar for Nebraska’s chapter of the  International Association of Public Participation. It was an abridged version of Metro's presentation at the organization’s conference last fall. The presentation focused on how local governments can ensure they relate to their community. It looked at how Metro intentionally and successfully reorganized and refreshed the Transit Advisory Committee.

 

Ms. Ebat further reported on additional training, fairs, and upcoming events. Metro’s Civil Rights Inclusion Director and Procurement Manager recently provided a training session through the Urban League of Nebraska, aimed at educating local businesses on how to bid on contracts with Metro. The training also covered Metro’s goals and processes related to Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) participation.

 

Staff attended the Completely Kids Resource Fair to assist mostly Spanish speakers with different ways they can access our services.

 

Lastly, Ms. Ebat reported that during Nebraska Public Transit Week, Metro will join the Omaha Public Library for a joint celebration, which coincides with National Library Week. To recognize and celebrate how Metro connects people to opportunities, such as the many services the public library offers, Metro staff will participate in a reading at the Washington Branch Library on April 9 at 10:30 a.m. and will have a bus on-site for attendees to explore. The library has also invited nearby preschools to visit and learn about the bus and how public transit helps keep Omaha connected.

Metro will also be hosting two train-the-trainer events in the week of April 8th & April 11th. 



To close out the week, Metro will be revealing and celebrating the winning Wheel Appeal design—the winning student is a middle schooler from Bennington Middle School, and their design celebrates people’s differences. It’s an extremely colorful and vibrant design. A reveal party will be hosted at Metro for the students' families, where everyone will see the design for the first time.



Before concluding her report, Ms. Ebat was able to provide additional Bus to Ballot information requested during Ms. Cencic’s report.  The last off-election-year Metro saw about a 15% increase in ridership. City elections tend to be less frequent than congressional elections. 



Ms. Ebat concluded her report and opened the floor to the Board for questions.



Agenda #6 Resolution 2025-07 Request for Approval of the Amendment of Operating Policy 26, Standards of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest 	(W. Clingman)

Staff proposed the amendment of Operating Policy 26, Standards of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest. This policy was last revised in January 2017. This revision provides updated language and additional clarification of the existing policy related to the solicitation, selection, award, and administration of Metro’s procurement activities. Additionally, it updates the acknowledgment document for this policy to be required from applicable individuals every three years instead of the current practice of every year. Staff reviewed this policy with the Planning & Policy Committee.



The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none. 



There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously.



Motioned by Corrigan; Seconded by Lonergan

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES



Agenda #7 Resolution 2025-08 Request Approval of the Amendment of Operating Policy 27, Purchasing Policy	(W. Clingman)

Staff proposed the amendment of Operating Policy 27, Purchasing. This policy was last revised in December 2022. This revision will update the policy with the most recent FTA guidance found in FTA Circular 4220.1G, which was released on January 17, 2025.  Staff reviewed this policy with the Planning & Policy Committee.

The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none. 

There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously.

[bookmark: _Hlk193967513]Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES







Agenda #8 Resolution 2025-09 Request Approval of the 2026 Amended Transportation Improvement Program	(W. Clingman)

Staff requested approval of the amended 2026 element of the 2026-2030 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). This amendment is to program funds and create the 2026 Program of Projects (POP).

Staff recommended programming Urbanized Area Apportionment Funds (5307) and Bus and Bus Facility Apportionment Funds (5339) in the FY 2026 element of the TIP. 

Additionally, staff recommended approval of the 2026 Program of Projects in the following manner:

		PROJECT

		SOURCE OF FUNDS

		AMOUNT

		DESCRIPTION



		

		

		

		



		SUPPORT EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES



		5307

		Fed: $2,287,096

Local: $571,774

Total: $2,858,870

		Update BGE equipment, replace MOBY tablets, and administration facility upgrades

 



		TRANSIT ENHANCEMENTS

		5307

		

Fed: $1,192,000

Local: $298,000

Total: $1,490,000



		Installation of up to 20 bus shelters





		UNIFIED WORK PROGRAM

		5307

		

Fed: $920,000

Local: $230,000

Total: $1,150,000



		Planning activities for 2026.





		OPERATIONS

		5307

		Fed: $14,010,592

Local: $3,502,648

Total: $17,513,240

		 Preventative Maintenance, partial ADA service, employee and staff training.





		PROJECT

		SOURCE OF FUNDS

		AMOUNT

		DESCRIPTION



		ROLLING STOCK

		5339

		

Fed:  $2,034,419 Local:  $359,015  Total:  $2,393,434



		4 Moby vans and 2 fixed route buses



		OPERATIONS



		5339

		Fed:      $40,622

Local:   $10,154    Total:    $50,776

		Project Administration and training



		

		

		

		







Board approval allows the projects to be committed for FY 2026. Projects will be submitted to the Metropolitan Area Planning Agency (MAPA) for consideration at the April 2025 MAPA Board Meeting. The total new local encumbrance of federal funds will be $20,484,729. The total new encumbrance of local funds will be $4,971,591. The total new encumbrance of all funds will be $25,456,320. 

Approval ensures Metro’s compliance with FTA planning requirements.

Curt Simon, Board Chair, asked Mr. Clingman to explain what is included in the Unified Work Program to the Board. 

Mr. Clingman explained that it’s the agency planning activities. Short- and long-term changes, streetcar and how it will go into our services. Planning for audit and pension would be included as well.   

Ms. Cencic informed the Board for the record that part of this process is publishing this resolution in the Daily Record for the public to review and provide comments. Then it continues to the Metro Board, then to MAPA’s Board. Once fully approved, projects will take at least a year to become programmed. There was no formal Finance Committee meeting regarding this, but it was provided in the packet, and there were no questions.

The Board invited public comments on this resolution. There were none. 

There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously.

Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES



Agenda #9 Resolution 2025-10 Request Approval to Award Service Order to River North Transit for Microtransit Services	(L. Cencic)

Staff requested approval to award a service order to River North Transit, LLC, a subsidiary of Via Transportation, Inc., for microtransit services and to authorize the CEO/Executive Director to execute the same.



Metro released a Request for Proposals for a Microtransit Pilot Project in September of 2024 and received two proposals.  The proposals were reviewed by an evaluation team, and the proposal from Via Transportation, Inc./River North Transit, LLC was the highest-ranked proposal in terms of the established criteria, which included software & data capabilities, operating plan, contractor flexibility, contractor experience, personnel experience, and price.  



In February of 2025, The Board authorized a Master Terms and Conditions Agreement with River North for a pilot period and approved the Title VI Equity Analysis. The Service Order outlines the initial zones and operating characteristics as well as establishes a maximum not to exceed price for the pilot period.  



Ms. Cencic further explained that this is overall for two years not to exceed the price of $6,926,296 and provides options for years three through five with operational service or software only.  Entirely funded by philanthropic grants and will not come out of Metro’s operational budget.

  

The Board inquired about the ability to accept cash payments for this service, particularly for unbanked individuals. They also asked whether Via would be purchasing vehicles following the approval of this resolution and sought clarification on the data-sharing provisions in the contract.



Ms. Cencic explained that fare payment options are still being determined, including how fares and transfers will work for this service. On regular fixed routes, cash is accepted, and UMO allows cash to be loaded onto an account for card usage. Metro is working to integrate this system with microtransit.



Regarding vehicle purchases, Metro will continue discussions with the vendor to address fare structures, service zones, and fleet needs. 



Ms. Cencic also noted that Via is open to sharing data and providing the necessary information for Metro to evaluate the pilot project. Metro’s planning team has reviewed the data-sharing methods that contractors will use, and the service zones and characteristics that were in the Title VI analysis are reflected in this work order.



Since this is a pilot program, the contract allows for modifications through written agreements with the vendor as needed.



The Board invited public comments on this resolution.



Chris Nanke, President, Transportation Workers Union, Local 223

Mr. Nanke wanted to reiterate the importance of having transfers. He expressed that this was never to be a stand-alone service but a service to bring riders to a fixed route. He stressed that transfers must be a priority, bringing riders to the bus. 



Clyde Anderson, 7020 Burt Street, Member of the Transit Advisory Committee

Mr. Anderson expressed that he would like to see a designated location at the major transit centers where the microtransit vehicles will be located. He also assumes that nine months into the second year, this program will be evaluated but is asking that information is shared with the public as well.  



There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously.





Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Garcia

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES



Agenda Item #10 Resolution 2025-11 Request Approval of Board Recognition of Nebraska Public Transit Week, April 6th-12th 	(N. Ebat)

Nebraska Public Transit Week is dedicated to raising awareness of public transit across the state. Public transit has served the cities of Omaha and Council Bluffs since 1867. Metro’s fixed-route service operated 3,843,159 miles and 278,606 hours in 2024.  Metro’s paratransit service operated 601,292 miles and 52,273 hours connecting people, places, and opportunities. 



Nebraska’s Public Transit Week provides a special opportunity for people all over the state to show their support for services that help thousands of Nebraskans stay mobile and have active lives within their communities. 



Metro and public transit overall connect people to the parts of their communities that help people live an active, vibrant, interesting life. To recognize that, Metro, along with transit agencies across the state, is celebrating April 6th through 12th as Nebraska Public Transit Week.



Metro will partner with the Omaha Public Library to read transit-themed books while also celebrating National Library Week, celebrating the importance art and our youth play in our community with a reveal of the winning design from this year’s Wheel Appeal student artist, and recognize the hardworking and dedicated workforce with a safety banquet to award and honor Metro employees.



Board Chair Curt Simon read into the record the resolution in its entirety. 



RESOLUTION 2025-11

March 27, 2025 

Omaha, Nebraska 



RESOLVED BY THE BOARD of DIRECTORS of the REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA: 



WHEREAS, public transit provides Omaha and all Nebraskans access to medical, business, employment, social, and supportive services and allows people to contribute to a vibrant city and society; 



WHEREAS, public transit allows individuals to remain independent, contributes to economic development, reduces traffic congestion, decreases carbon emissions, and improves mobility; 



WHEREAS, Nebraska has many public transit employees who provide service to Nebraska, more than 300 of whom are employed by Metro, who must maintain stringent educational requirements and standards, particularly bus and paratransit operators; 



WHEREAS, public transit professionals play an important role in so many lives; 



WHEREAS, Metro provides public transportation service in the Greater Omaha area; 



WHEREAS, More than 3.2 million rides were provided on Metro routes in 2024; 



WHEREAS, More than 82 thousand paratransit trips were provided on MOBY in 2024;



WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to encourage all citizens to increase their understanding, awareness, and the benefits of their local transit system; 



WHEREAS, the Board of Directors and the Nebraska Association of Transportation Providers recognize the important role public transit professionals play and wish to acknowledge that role; 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE REGIONAL METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF OMAHA BOARD: 



The Board of Directors DO HEREBY CONGRATULATE the employees of Metro and proclaim the week of April 6 - 12, 2025, as 



PUBLIC TRANSIT WEEK

in Omaha and all of Nebraska.



The foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Board of the Regional Metropolitan Transit Authority of Omaha at a meeting held on the 27th day of March 2025, and the undersigned hereby certifies the adoption of this resolution. 



___________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Curt Simon, Board Chair                                   Selina Perry, Board Secretary



This was signed immediately following the board meeting. 



The Board invited public comments on this resolution.



There was no further Board discussion necessary. The Board approved unanimously.



Motioned by Williams; Seconded by Lonergan

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES



Agenda Item #11 Board Chair Report	(C. Simon)

Board Chair Curt Simon had no updates to report for this meeting



[bookmark: _Int_Yae1Df5q]Agenda Item #12 Date, Time, and Place of Next Board Meeting

Thursday, April 24, 2025, at 8:30 a.m.

Authority’s Administrative Building



Agenda Item #13 Adjournment at 9:13 am.



Motioned by Lonergan; Seconded by Dombeck

ROLL CALL: UNANIMOUS, MOTION CARRIES



